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PREFACE

In 1992, following the success of my book Crossfire: The
Plot That Killed Kennedy, l began to look for other dark secrets
being hidden away by the federal government. What I found
led me into an incredible journey through time, space, ESE
UFOs, censorship, and disinformation.

It began with my discovery of a psychic ability termed
remote viewing, or RV. This phenomenon in the past had
been called clairvoyance, prophecy, or soothsaying. Although
recorded by all cultures throughout human history, it was be-
lieved to be simply an occult fantasy until scientific studies
during the 20th century confirmed its existence.

Despite the fact that remote viewing was developed by
various tax-supported government agencies including the
CIA, the Defense Intelligence Agency, and even the U.S. Army,
a majority of Americans still have never heard of this faculty.



But remote viewing forever changed the lives of the men
and women employed in its use. This included people only
tangentially connected to the government-funded RV programs.

This book became one of the casualties in the ongoing
conflict between science and ESP military secrecy and the
public’s right to know, as well as the never-ending intramural
competition between government agencies and power-seeking
individuals.

What you are about to read was suppressed in the sum-
mer of 1995, four months before the existence of government-
sponsored remote viewing was publicly revealed by a CIA
press release.

The story of remote viewing—then one of our government's
most closely guarded secrets—now has filtered into cer-
tain aware segments of the public, where it continues to
attract growing fascination and interest. Today, several ex-
perienced viewers are bringing this phenomenal tech-
nology to a wider audience. Others have spoken about it
in books, articles, or public speeches. Even some entre-
preneurs now advertise psychic readings reportedly ac-
complished through RV.

To understand this transition from top-secret government
project to minor public fad, I invite the reader to follow my own
experience with remote viewing.

As I traveled across the country on media tours and speak-
ing engagements during 1991 and 1992, at every opportu-
nity, I would ask, “What do you think is the next big secret
government cover-up?”’
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The response was almost unanimous: [ was told that
people were curious about the UFO phenomenon. [ realized
that [ was, too. Although I had been aware and curious about
UFO stories since [ was a young man in the 1950s, [ was no
further along than anyone else in learning the truth of the
matter. I determined that I would research and write about
the topic.

As I began to establish, and reestablish, contacts within
the UFO research community, I was made aware of a speech
presented by a military intelligence officer at a public con-
ference in Atlanta in early 1992 (the Treat IV Conference). In
a public speech, then-Army Captain Ed Dames spoke about
UFOs, detailing in no uncertain terms what they were, where
they came from, and where they were going.

His matter-of-fact tone intrigued me, for here was no
starry-eyed New Age fanatic, but a decorated military intel-
ligence officer. Furthermore, Dames was no loose cannon.
During his talk, he was flanked by Col. John Alexander, a
leading luminary in military nonlethal weapons research
who moved freely between both military and intelligence
programs, and Maj. Gen. Albert Stubblebine, former com-
mander of the Army’s Intelligence and Security Command.

Dames told his audience about the development of re-
mote viewing, which he described as “‘this profound tool.” He
also spoke of flying "“transport vehicles” used to “‘transport a
type of resource, usually from Mars to Earth, sometimes
through time.” He spoke of giant inhabited underground cav-
erns on Earth and hibernating Martians on Mars, even “‘tran-
scendental” energy beings who could access our very
minds.



Intrigued, I contacted Dames and soon learned the story
of our military remote viewers. Dames saild he and fellow
Army officer David Morehouse were in touch with a New York
literary agent. Both officers said the story of RV was too im-
portant to remain a military secret. They were willing to talk.

And I was willing to listen. To me this was a journalist's
dream come true, for, if RV was fraudulent, it was a shameful
waste of taxpayer money. If it proved true, it could well repre-
sent a leap forward in human evolution. Either way, it was a
story I knew [ had to pursue.

An agreement was reached: I would write about RV and
its use by the military, and Dames and Morehouse would
help supply facts, contacts, and information. In June 1993, I
contracted to publish a book through Harmony Books, a sub-
sidiary of Random House.

Beginning with my contact with Dames in the summer of
1992, I spent three years working on the remote viewing
story. During that time, my research showed that the RV phe-
nomenon was a reality that had been recorded through-
out history. I was introduced to other military viewers,
such as Lyn Buchanan and Mel Riley. | met members of the
oversight committees that monitored the RV program, such
as Dr. Paul Tyler and Col. Alexander. [ interviewed Dr. Hal
Puthoff and Ingo Swann, who, along with Russell Targ, were
the men most responsible for the development of RV.

The work was arduous, particularly so because I was
dealing with a subject most people wanted no part of—not
to mention that it involved a top-secret government program.
Many sources refused to be interviewed, and others de-
manded anonymity. Hard facts were difficult to come by.
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In mid-1995, as the book was nearing publication and
without consulting me, a Harmony editor paid a small sum to
Morehouse to add some personal recollections to the manu-
script. Morehouse had just resigned from the Army under
contentious circumstances and gone to work for the New York
agent.

The inclusion of Morehouse’s experiences upset Dames,
who apparently had come to view the book as his own per-
sonal biography, despite the fact that all concerned had ini-
tially agreed that it would be about remote viewing and the
military unit rather than about any individual.

Dames, who by this time was claiming to be in contact
with alien grays, sent a letter via an attorney to Harmony dis-
avowing the book, even though he had previously signed an
unprecedented release statement based on my completed
manuscript (sans Morehouse’s paragraphs). I found it most
ironic that this obstruction came from the very person who
had initiated the book in the first place, and nothing he had
contributed had been altered or deleted. Some observers
saw a darker purpose behind Dames's action.

This darker purpose seemed to have been confirmed by
subsequent events. First, the book’s editor was suddenly of-
fered a job outside New York City and left the project. Inter-
estingly, some months after the book was canceled, he returned
to his old job. The senior legal counsel, who had approved
publication of the book following a lengthy and thorough le-
gal review, was suddenly no longer there.

The matter was turned over to a law firm previously un-
connected to the publisher, and I was ordered not to contact
or talk to the firm’s attorney, who then decided the book had



to be canceled because of the legal threats from Dames. [ was
told by the new book editor that, though she neither under-
stood nor agreed with the course being taken, she was pow-
erless to prevent the cancellation.

I was assured that the only reason for the cancellation
was the possibility of legal action by Dames, yet when [ ex-
plained that he was only one of many sources and could be
deleted without affecting the book, I was told it would be can-
celed anyway.

Everyone involved with the book came to believe that the
cancellation had been ordered by someone with great au-
thority, perhaps within the government. Subsequent events
only substantiated this belief.

The book was canceled in late July 1995, despite sub-
stantial orders from booksellers. On August 27, the story of RV
broke in a London newspaper. The story, entitled “Tinker, Tailor,
Soldier, Psi,” was written by Jim Schnabel, who earlier that
year had received a copy of my manuscript from Dames.
Schnabel went on to publish a book on RV in 1997, which in-
cluded much detail from insider sources.

By early September, the CIA was involved in a review of
remote viewing by Ray Hyman and Jessica Utts. Considering
that Hyman, a luminary of the Committee for the Scientific
Investigation of Claims of the Paranormal (CSICOP), was bi-
ased against ESP to begin with, coupled with the fact that the
review concentrated only on the weakest of the RV work, the
outcome was never in doubt.

Their finished report, dated September 29, 1995, was a
fascinating mixture of both support for and condemnation of
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RV. The report concluded that, despite that fact that a “statis-
tically significant effect” had been observed in laboratory RV
experiments, ‘no compelling explanation has been provided
for the observed effects...to say a phenomenon has been
demonstrated we must know the reasons for its existence.”!

In other words, we know it works but we don't know how,
so therefore, it must not work. The report was a thinly dis-
guised effort to restrict public interest in RV.

The report also stated that remote viewing ‘has not been
shown to have value in intelligence operations.”? The CIA
concurrently announced that its RV work was unpromising
and would be discontinued.

The story that the government had used psychics to spy
on enemies first broke publicly in early October in a super-
market tabloid story headlined “How CIA's Psychic Spies
Stole Russia’s Star Wars Secrets.” This tabloid treatment,
obviously leaked by government sources, was a kiss of
death to anyone in the mainstream media taking the subject
seriously.

Remote viewing was officially acknowledged by a CIA
news release dated November 28, 1995. The story received
superficial and dismissive coverage in the New York Times
and the Washington Post, which described the Psi Spies
merely as "a trio of citizens with suspected paranormal pow-
ers who were located at a Maryland military base.’® Even
with this watered-down version, the story moved no farther
than the East Coast. Nowhere was there any mention that re-
mote viewing was simply dispersed to even more secret gov-
ernment agencies where its use continues today, according
to several separate unofficial sources.



Also, in all the coverage of RV in the major media, it was
never pointed out that this psychic program had been funded
for more than quarter of a century under four separate ad-
ministrations, half Republican and half Democrat, indicating
that someone felt the government was getting its money’s
worth.

In 1996, Morehouse’s own book, Psychic Warrior, was
published by St. Martin's Press and was well received by
readers. But the book’s revelations incurred the lasting ani-
mosity of the military authorities who were already angered
by Morehouse’s whistle-blowing on other secret operations.
This animosity spread to Morehouse’s former comrades-in-
arms, causing deep divisions between the former military
remote viewers.

Morehouse suffered greatly for his part in exposing the
RV story. Charged with taking a typewriter without permis-
sion and adultery with another soldier’s wife (they both were
separated at the time), Morehouse was ordered before a court
martial and was later admitted to a psychiatric ward within
Walter Reed Army Medical Center. On the occasions when |
visited him there, he was so heavily drugged that he could
barely lift his head.

Charges were quietly dropped after Morehouse agreed
to resign his commission and accept a less-than-honorable
discharge from the Army, thus losing all benefits, not to men-
tion the damage to his credibility.

On the other hand, Dames, who had initiated the exposure
of the Psi Spies, suffered no retaliation and, in fact, maintained
control over the private company that he and Morehouse had
created (PSI TECH). He soon devoted himself to teaching RV.
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A frequent guest on late-night radio, Dames remained popu-
lar despite a continuing loss of credibility. In a 1993 maga-
zine interview, Dames said he wanted a "“face-to-face”
meeting with Martians hibernating underground in New
Mexico, adding, “If we don'’t have it by the end of August,
we're getting out of the UFO game.”* Neither happened.

Prior to the arrival of the Hale-Bopp Comet in 1997,
Dames told a Coast to Coast radio audience that his remote
viewing had revealed that a container filled with plant-killing
pathogens was accompanying Hale-Bopp. He said spores
from the companion would blanket the Earth, killing most of
the population. He also predicted massive breakdowns in the
human immunization system, widespread death from exotic
plagues, and nuclear power plant disasters. Either Dames’s
RV accuracy had worsened since leaving the military or he
was pursuing another agenda.

Meanwhile, the American public was left to only study the
available bits and pieces of information on remote viewing.
Some information came from former Psi Spies, more from
scientific and government documents, and some from per-
sons with suspect motives.

In 2000, this book was published in a limited edition. This
present incarnation is an effort to provide readers with my
account of the remote viewing story. Here then is the original
Psi Spies, updated and expanded.
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AUTHOR’'S NOTE

Please note when reading PSI Spies that I have cited
interviews with an endnote only on the first quotation by an
interviewed source. After that, readers can assume that quo-
tations attributed to a person but not cited come from that
same interview previously noted. I chose to note only the
first instance in order to prevent the book from becoming
cumbersome with endnotes. All relevant information is
included in the Notes (beginning on page 299) with the first
mention from each source throughout the book.

19
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CHAPTER 1

PSIINT:PSYCHIC
INTELLIGENCE

U.S. Army Captain David Morehouse should never have
told his unit psychologist about his out-of-body experience.
He didn't think it was any big deal, but the incident had
stayed on his mind, and he wanted to share it with someone.

His sharing set him on a course that completely altered
his life, bringing him face to face with the most fundamental
questions of life on Earth and its place in the universe.

It all began one morning in early 1988. As Morehouse
drove to his job with a top-level military intelligence unit, he
felt he had it made. The unit was an odd mixture of Special
Forces soldiers, intelligence officers, military pilots, com-
munications experts, and even some Marines. Morehouse felt
slightly out of place as, for the past 10 years of his career, he
had been an infantry officer first commanding a Ranger
company in Panama, then serving as a staff officer at battal-
ion level.

2l



He and his wife, son, and two daughters were living in a
two-story Colonial home in Bowle, Maryland. Although he
didn't have the kind of close family life he might have desired,
they were living comfortably.

Each morning, Morehouse made the same drive from his
home to the Kingman Building outside Fort Belvoir where he
worked in the enclosed offices of a unit known only as ROYAL
CAPE.

This “special access’ unit was housed in modular offices,
which had been constructed inside an existing building.
Armed guards, key-card locks, and electronic fields pro-
tected the entire unit.

Entering the main hallway that morning in 1988, Morehouse
nodded to the armed guards in their glass-encased room. To
his left was the office of the unit psychologist, Lt. Col. Ennis
Cole (a pseudonym, as he still works for the government), a
tall, slender man with a thick head of blondish-brown hair.

Morehouse knew Col. Cole’s work within the unit was
critical. ROYAL CAPE’s responsibilities included the han-
dling of operatives in foreign countries. Such operatives had
to be extremely stable people. And yet the people that chose
to do such work were almost always inherently unstable.

He knew that it was a fine line in these agents’ psycho-
logical profile that decided which would go and which would
stay. It was the unit psychologist that would ultimately make
the decision. Then there was the fact that no one in the spe-
cial access unit was hired without thorough testing by Col.
Cole. He probably knew more about the unit members than
their own families.
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Morehouse looked to his right, into his commanding officer’s
office, to see if anything seemed out of the ordinary. Once he
saw that everything appeared routine, he veered left into his
own office. The small cubicle was depressing. It had no win-
dows and nothing hung on the walls—no photos, no pic-
tures, no posters, nothing. A few weeks earlier, Morehouse
had tried to bring the room to life by mounting his military
awards, plaques, and trophies on the wall, but one of his superi-
ors had ordered the removal of this self-aggrandizing museum.

Sadly, Morehouse had removed the items, all except for
the Kevlar helmet he had brought back from his tour in Jordan
the year before. The bullet hole from a 7.62-millimeter
slug was still prominent on that helmet. The shot to his
head had been deflected by the helmet, but the shock of
the bullet strike had opened doors into his mind he had never
known existed. The incident had begun a series of strange
experiences.

Morehouse had no more than settled into the chair
behind his large wooden desk when he made his deci-
sion: He decided to see the psychologist and talk about his
experiences.

He walked down the hallway and entered Cole’s office.
The psychologist was sitting behind his desk with his head
buried in a stack of papers.

Cole pushed the stack aside, looked up, and said, "“Hji,
Dave. What's up? Are you still concerned about that last man
we checked?”

“No, I have a little personal matter I want to talk with you
about,” replied Morehouse.



Cole straightened in his chair and leaned forward. “Oh?”
he said, suddenly interested.

Morehouse began to have second thoughts about his de-
cision to share his latest experience with Cole. It was pretty
outlandish-sounding, and he himself had never put much
stock in stories of the paranormal. But, over time, he had de-
veloped a certain trust in Cole.

He squirmed in his seat a moment and was about to rise
to leave when Cole said, “Well, what is it, Dave? You know that
you can tell me anything and it will be held in the strictest
confidence.”

“Yeah, I know, but this is pretty wild,” replied Morehouse.

When Cole didn't say anything, Morehouse sighed, settled
in his chair, and began recounting his story.

“Well, it was last weekend. Something happened while [
was on a camping trip with my son and his Boy Scout troop
as one of the adult supervisors.”

Cole nodded and sat quietly as Morehouse continued.

“It was really cold and the snow was quite deep. It had
been a big struggle to get to the camping spot and set up
camp. We were all pretty tired and went to bed early. I really
enjoy being with my son and his friends in the outdoors, but
this time was special for me. It was a strange outing.”

“What do you mean, strange?”

“I somehow felt closer to everyone and everything, as if [
was tuned in to a different frequency or something. Once [
looked into my son's eyes and almost started crying. [ felt
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could see into his life, nto his future. There was this jumble of
visions. I couldn't make any sense out of it. I know that sounds
crazy, but that's what happened.”

Cole nodded. “Well, I think—"

Morehouse interrupted. “There’s more. When we all went
to bed, I slept outside the tent, alone in my bedroll in the snow.
It was about midnight and there was a full moon and a bright
starry sky. [ just lay there, taking it all in. [ was in that Alpha
State, you know, not quite asleep but not wide awake.

“Suddenly I felt myself rising slowly off the ground. I wasn't
frightened. In fact I was oddly calm. I felt weightless and free
as [ passed nearby tree branches. Looking down to my left, [
saw a dark body lying in the snow and [ knew it was me.

“I wasn't scared, just intrigued by it all, as if  knew it was
going to happen. Almost as if I had done this before.

“I remember coming straight up out of my sleeping bag. I
mean | shot straight up into the sky. It seemed like [ went up
more than 1,000 feet. I was really moving. I saw the moon and
the clouds and, more importantly, I felt all this. It was no dream.
[ was speeding toward the moon so fast it made me physically
ill. T actually felt my stomach roll from the acceleration.

“I stopped high above the Earth and looked at everything
around me. [ could see for miles in the moonlight; the snow-
covered hills, the forests, and the lights in the homes.”

“Then [ was moving along and before long I was above the
house of a close friend of mine. I dropped through the roof and
was seeing the inside of the house, moving from room to room.”!



Morehouse sat staring at the wall, captivated by the memory
of the incident.

Cole finally broke the silence. “Yes, well, then what hap-
pened?” he asked quietly.

Morehouse shook his head. “I woke up,” he said.

Noting Cole’s quizzical look, Morehouse quickly added,
“Well, I didn't exactly wake up, you see, because | had never
really been asleep. I guess you could say I just came to.

“I remember feeling that this was the end of the journey
as I slowly descended back to where my body was. I watched
myself all the way down but I lost everything just before I be-
came me again. Then I was back in my sleeping bag as if
nothing had happened.”

Morehouse sat looking at the psychologist, as if waiting
for word of a death sentence.

Cole smiled and said, “Dave, I can see your question
coming. No, you're not going crazy.’

“Well, that's a relief,” he said. “But you have to admit that
this is not normal.”

Cole rose to his feet and began pacing his small office.

“Twould say, from what you've told me, that you've had an
out-of-body experience. And understand that this is not an
uncommon occurrence.”

“Really?” Morehouse was somewhat amazed. Because
he had never really looked into the subject, he had always
thought that stories about psychic insights and leaving the
body were only for the supermarket tabloids.
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“The psychological literature is full of such accounts,”
Cole said seriously. “Usually this phenomenon is connected
to some life-threatening situation. Combat soldiers, in ex-
treme danger, have often reported out-of-body experiences.

“Most of the material on these events is strictly anecdotal
but there have been some successful scientific tests also. Un-
der lab conditions, test subjects have been able to induce an
out-of-body experience and have retrieved data that was not
available through normal means. In fact, the army has been
making a study of such things.”

After rummaging in a filing cabinet, the psychologist
put some papers together. Cole handed them to Morehouse,
saying, “Here, I want you to read through this and tell me what
you think.”

“All right,” said Morehouse absently as he thumbed through
the material.

After returning to his office, Morehouse studied the ma-
terial more closely.

It included some reports from the Army’s Intelligence
and Security Command’s Golden Sphere program designed
to enhance human performance. Some were stamped
“Secret” and carried the strange acronym “GRILL FLAME."
The reports addressed such topics as sleep-assisted learn-
ing, biofeedback, and stress management. There were also
references to parapsychology and something called “remote
viewing.’

Parapsychology? Morehouse thought to himself. I can’t
believe they are talking seriously here about clairvoyance and
ESP



But his interest was aroused, and with his camping trip
experience still fresh in his mind, Morehouse found he was
more willing to look at the material with an open mind.

Two days later, Morehouse finally asked Cole the ques-
tions that had been plaguing him. “I want to know more about
that material you gave me. There was a lot of talk about psy-
chic abilities. Can that really exist? Is the Army seriously
studying stuff like that? Can people really leave their bod-
ies?”” he asked seriously.

“What do you think?” Cole countered his questions with
a question.

Morehouse sat quietly for a moment, then said slowly, “'I
used to think that all that was a bunch of bunk. But, now, after
my experience, I'm not so sure.”

Cole perched himself on the desk and leaned toward
Morehouse. “What if [ told you there were people doing those
very things in the Army right now?” he said.

Morehouse was shocked. “You mean leaving their bod-
les and seeing with their minds?" he asked incredulously.

Cole nodded.

Morehouse sat for a moment thinking of the implications
of what he had just been told. “How could I get in on some-
thing like that?” he finally asked.

Cole only smiled and said, “We'll talk later.”

The next day Cole started dropping off folders for
Morehouse to read. They were stamped “‘SECRET" and “GRILL
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FLAME” and were filled with what appeared to be interroga-
tions or interviews. Though they didn't seem to make sense, the
reports in the folders continued to arouse his interest. State-
ments such as "‘now move forward through the wall,” “move
through the closed door,” and “I'm reaching for the lock but it
keeps passing through my hand” caught his attention.

After all, this was the United States Army, and military of-
ficers, particularly the unit psychologist, didn't make jokes
about classified material.

Morehouse continued to meet with Col. Cole, both inside
and outside the office. Cole shared information and articles
on paranormal studies.

In time, he slowly revealed the secrets of GRILL FLAME.

A small, select group of soldiers, the colonel explained,
were having out-of-body experiences. They were leaving
their physical bodies, going to distant targets, and de-
scribing the targets. “They call this remote viewing,” Cole
explained.

Morehouse still couldn’t quite believe this was real, yet
here was his unit psychologist, a man with serious rank and
credentials, telling him that people were sending their minds
out of their bodies to view faraway persons and places.

It began to dawn on Morehouse that he was being let in on
a very big secret, a secret that went outside the boundaries of
his conventional upbringing. “What the hell am [ getting my-
self involved n?"” he thought, thinking back on his background.

Raised a “military brat,” young Morehouse was shuffled
from one home to another, sometimes in rough neighborhoods.



“I remember stomp fights,” he recalled. “That's where one
guy would stomp the other until someone fell down and then
they would stomp his face—and that was just the third grade!”

The Morehouse family, practicing Mormons, finally
settled in San Clemente, California. The beaches, surfers, and
sun-baked beauties made Morehouse feel he was in heaven.
He was a cheerleader while attending Mira Costa College,
and in 1974 was voted “Mr. Cheer, USA" in national compe-
tition. But he also proved he was no wimp by placing fourth
place in a statewide wrestling competition, a feat that earned
him a scholarship to Brigham Young University.

It was at BYU that Morehouse gained both a wife and an
obsession with becoming a soldier as his father, who had
served in both World War II and Korea, was. He was soon on
an ROTC scholarship.

Following stints at the U.S. Army’s airborne and Ranger
schools at Fort Benning, Georgia, Morehouse began his ac-
tive duty, which included his ill-fated assignment to Jordan,
where a stray bullet punctured his helmet provoking ex-
panded mental abilities.?

One rainy spring morning, Col. Cole breezed into
Morehouse’s office. “Come with me. I've got some people [ want
you to meet”’

Nothing further was said, but Morehouse was of the defi-
nite opinion that he was about to meet the Army’s remote
viewers, psychic operatives—the Psi Spies.

Morehouse was deep in thought as the Chrysler K car
driven by Col. Cole turned off Maryland'’s Highway 5 into the
front entrance of Fort Meade.
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He pondered what might lie in store for him with a psy-
chic unit. I'm just an infantry officer, and now I'm literally off to
see the wizard, he thought to himself.

The blue Chrysler passed Burba Park, but before reach-
ing the base hospital, Cole turned off into a dead-end street
where two long, low, wooden buildings were nestled in a
grove of trees. The buildings appeared deserted.

The easternmost building, marked only with the number
2560, was an old World War II-era barracks. The other build-
ing was marked 2561. They were apparently the only such
structures still standing. All the others were long gone.

Morehouse surveyed the buildings and was not im-
pressed. Paint was peeling off the sides, and the tall metal
chimneys obviously had not been used for some time. Walk-
Ing up onto a small wooden porch, he noticed the front door
was green-painted steel with a modern high-security lock.
Morehouse laughed to himself. A second-year karate student
could kick his way through this building with his bare feet, yet
the front door 1s secured with a high-tech lock, he thought,
wondering what secrets the lock protected.

He didn't have long to wonder, as the door was quickly
opened by a short, thickset woman.

“Morning, Jeanie,” Cole said cheerfully.

Peering around the colonel, the woman studied Morehouse.
“And who have you brought with you?”

“This is the man I've been telling you about,” Cole replied,
striding through the doorway.

The woman waved Morehouse inside. “Come right in,”
she said with a smile that Morehouse could have pictured on
the face of a cat who had just caught a canary.



As Jeanie went off to announce their arrival, Cole ex-
plained that she was the wife of a retired Army colonel who
had been a civilian employee at Fort Meade before joining
the psychic unit as a secretary.

As Morehouse's eyes became accustomed to the dim
interior he gave a small gasp. Having been in the spit-and-polish
Army for so long now, he was taken aback by the dark and
cluttered office. A mural stretched along one wall depicting
a star field with a swath across it representing a red galaxy.
Gazing at the painting, he felt as if he had stepped onto the
set of a Star Trek movie.

The office itself contained an odd assortment of old
wooden desks, chairs, and other accessories. Notes, news
clippings, and memos were pinned or pasted onto the walls.
Everywhere were stacks of papers, files, and books, as well
as an Incongruous array of potted plants.

The office’s occupants did nothing to dispel the idea that
this was merely a college research facility. Next to a coffee
machine, an older man with a bit of gray in his hair stood in
his stocking feet. Beside him was a shorter, younger man
whose hair was combed forward and cut in bangs. Both wore
civilian clothes.

It resembled nothing Morehouse had experienced in his
service career.

Cole seemed at ease in this disheveled environment. He
obviously had been here many times. He guided Morehouse
to the pair standing by the coffee machine.

He introduced them as Master Sgt. Mel Riley and Capt.
Ed Dames. The two nodded cordially, but were obviously
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more concerned with their conversation than with Morehouse.
Morehouse noted that Riley had a wise and relaxed appear-
ance; Dames, though short, was trim and muscular, with a
boyish grin on his face.

Cole pulled Morehouse away from the men and guided
him past the receptionist’'s desk to a small cubicle where a
large man sat staring at a computer screen. Noticing Cole,
the man extracted himself carefully from one of those back-
saving computer chairs and shook hands. Morehouse
noticed he too was not wearing shoes. Morehouse was thus
introduced to Lyn Buchanan. A large man with graying hair
and fatherly eyes, he seemed to be a kind and caring fellow.
Morehouse liked him immediately.

Continuing his tour, Morehouse was presented to the
other members of the remote viewing unit.

Paul Smith waved hello from behind piles of papers and
books on an old desk. A hefty intellectual-looking fellow,
Smith was surrounded by a clutter of plants, books, paintings,
and food. A computer printer was spitting out a barrage of
paper onto the floor of his cubicle.

Gabriella Pettingale, an attractive blonde with a sincere
smile, leaned in from an adjoining cubicle. Gesturing at
Smith’s desk space, she said with an apologetic look, “And I
made him clean it up just this morning. It was spilling across
the floor into my space.”

A man introduced as Major Ed May seemed the only per-
son there with a military bearing, despite his lack of a uniform.

Morehouse was soon pulled away by Cole, who said,
“Come on. Here’s the man [ want you to meet.”



Morehouse found himself in a small side office. Looking
down, he noticed that the floor was covered with squares of
carpet material all pieced together. It looked to be a collec-
tion of carpet samples, none of which matched. There were
two big old chairs facing a large desk. Around the small of-
fice were potted plants in various stages of decay. Some sort
of dry tacking was hanging off of the wilting leaves and
stems. Morehouse had never seen such a collection of un-
kempt plants. He hoped these people cared more for their
business than they did for their plants.

The man behind the desk stood and extended his hand.
Morehouse was introduced to Fernand Gauvin, a civilian
General Service Administration(GSA) employee who headed
the small unit. His eyes sparkled with intelligence and enthu-
siasm as he was introduced to Morehouse.

“Welcome, Captain Morehouse,” he said warmly. Gauvin
was of medium height and build and looked to be in his early
50s. His dark, thinning hair was combed straight back, and
his dark eyes and olive complexion indicated a Mediterranean
heritage.

“I guess you are wondering why you've been brought
here” It was really not a question but more the opening of a
prepared speech.

Apparently Cole had heard the speech before. He made
his apologies and quickly left the room.

Gauvin and Morehouse looked at each other in si-
lence. Finally, Gauvin sat back in his chair, crossed his legs,
and put his hands straight out in front of him, locking
his fingers.



PsiInt: Psychic Intelligence 35

Looking slightly down his nose at Morehouse, Gauvin
sald, I am constantly amazed that young people such as
yourself are still willing to sacrifice their careers to be part of
an organization like this”

This guy knows everything about me, thought Morehouse.
He must know that [ am to be part of this unit. Why else would
he start a conversation in the middle like this? Perhaps he
thought that I would tell him, “I'm not sacrificing anything. This
is all just a job!"” and walk out.

“I don’t understand,’ said Morehouse.

“Oh, I think you do,” replied Gauvin. ‘“You know that if you
get mixed up with some unconventional and controversial
unit like this, you can probably kiss your advancements
goodbye.”

Morehouse slowly replied, “That may be so, but I'm fas-
cinated by all of this.”

To this point no one had mentioned the kind of work be-
ing done in the office.

Seeing that he had not unnerved Morehouse with his
opening statement, Gauvin relaxed somewhat and said,
“Well then, we are going to give you a limited read-out, tell
you a bit about what we do here.”

He got up from his chair and walked to the office door.
“Tean, bring me the forms he needs to sign,” he called out.

After the secrecy forms were signed, Gauvin returned to
his desk and took a sip of coffee.

Leaning slightly forward, he looked Morehouse squarely
in the eyes.



“What we do here is train people to transcend time and
space to view persons, places, or things, and to report ac-
curately on what they see about each of those targets I just
mentioned.” The words were spoken low and slow, with no
trace of amusement.

Gauvin stood and looked down at Morehouse. “Are you
interested in doing that?”

Morehouse’s mind was in a whirl. Do [ want to do that?
Transcend time and space? This 1s fascinating. He's really talk-
ing to me about something like this? And he's serious?

He jumped to his feet, his composure forgotten. “Hell, yes,
I'm interested! Can I start yesterday? How about today?”
Catching himself, Morehouse said, “Uh, sorry, sir, what I
meant is that [ would like to start as soon as possible. Tomor-
row morning, if possible.”

Gauvin smiled broadly. He knew he had an eager recruit.
Leaning back in his chair, he savored his control over the situ-
ation. Finally he said matter-of-factly, “We'll get back to you.”

“But sir,” stammered Morehouse. “After what ['ve been
told about your work, and here you are, a GS-14, standing
here telling me that this really exists, that what these people
do is for real. How can I go back to what [ was doing? I want
to start right away.”’

“I understand that,” said Gauvin, “but [ need to talk with
Col. Cole a little bit more about you. We have some things we
need to look at. We'll get back to you.”

In other words, don’t call us, we'll call you, thought
Morehouse. He felt disappointment setting in that he couldn't
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immediately learn more about this unusual group. He almost
missed the rest of Gauvin's remarks.

“We have some more forms and other things for you to fill
out,” Gauvin was saying. “Just so I can get a better idea about
what kind of person you are, whether or not you will be good
at what we do.”

Walking around the desk, Gauvin handed Morehouse
another form. "Right now, [ want you to go outside and sign
this. It just says you promise not to talk about what I have just
told you,” he said.

After Morehouse left the office and was the signing the
form, Cole suddenly appeared. He and Gauvin closed the
office door and began an earnest conversation, obviously
concerning Morehouse.

As he stood there trying to digest all that had just hap-
pened, the man introduced as Paul Smith walked up and
spoke softly, “Look, you're going to be asked to fill out
some questionnaires like this” He handed Morehouse some
papers.

“What I want you to do is fill these out, and when you an-
swer the questions, answer them as though you were the per-
son you would like to be, not the person you are.”

Morehouse didn't understand what he meant until he had
a chance to go through the papers. They were full of questions
and obviously were meant to prepare a psychological profile
on the respondent. There were about 250 questions, all requir-
ing a lengthy answer. Most were questions about what he
would do in a given situation.



When the meeting with Gauvin ended, Col. Cole mo-
tioned to Morehouse, and soon the pair were making the re-
turn trip to Washington. Nothing much was said on the long
drive, which was fine with Morehouse. His mind was filled
with the idea of transcending time and space. How can you do
that? Can [ really do this? Is this whole thing some sort of gi-
gantic gag? Why 1s the Army doing something like this? Does
it really work? Does it involve electronics or drugs?

The questions kept coming and he had no answers. Not yet.

During the next few days, Morehouse had difficulty keep-
ing his mind on his work. All he could think about was the odd
assortment of people at Fort Meade and their work tran-
scending time and space. And that he was going to be
part of it. His thoughts alternated between fascination and
skepticism.

One afternoon he heard loud voices across the hall.
They were coming from his commander’s office. Sud-
denly Morehouse’s ears perked up. He had heard his name
mentioned.

Easing his way to his door, he strained to hear.

His commander, Col. Tony Lackey, was arguing with
Cole. Morehouse could not make out everything that was
said, but it was obvious that his commander did not want to
lose him. As he listened, it also became obvious that Cole was
using every trick in the book to gain his reassignment.

Morehouse ducked back behind his office door as Cole
barged from the commander’s office and stalked back to
his own.
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Moments later Morehouse was summoned before
Lackey.

His commander sat looking at him for some time and fi-
nally said, “Is it true that you wish to join a certain unit as Col.
Cole has suggested?”

“Yes, sir, [ do,” replied Morehouse.

“Do you know that this unit is highly controversial?”
“Yes, sir, 1 do”

“Do you know that it's highly experimental?”

“Yes, sir, [ do.”

“Do you realize you could be jeopardizing your military
career by participating in something like this?”

“Yes, sir, [ do” Morehouse tried to ignore all of the small
bits of hesitation and doubt that remained circling in the back
of his mind. His curiosity had overcome his skepticism.

Standing up, Lackey said sternly, “That unit has a bad
reputation, do you know that?”

Morehouse shrugged his shoulders. He had not heard
that but at the moment he was so intrigued that it didn't seem
to matter.

“You realize you're making a bad choice here?”
Morehouse did not reply.

Finally, Lackey let loose. "Damn it, man. You're a fine of-
ficer and we need you here”

Morehouse took a moment and then said quietly, “Thank
you, sir. But if any part of what I've already learned about this



unit is true,  would never forgive myself for not learning more.
I'm really excited, sir. This move could change my whole life.”

“Yeah, but maybe not for the better,’ groused Lackey. Sud-
denly his shoulders slumped. He breathed a heavy sigh and
sank back into his chair.

“Oh, hell, son. It’s your life. If you want to go, go. I'll ap-
prove your permanent change of station order.”

Lackey looked up at the enthusiasm on Morehouse'’s face
and growled menacingly, “Now get the hell out of my office!”

It was just a few days later, after completing the lengthy
psychological profile, that Morehouse again found himself
sitting across the desk from Fern Gauvin.

“I see your new orders have been cut,” Gauvin said,
glancing over some papers in his hand. "I guess a hearty wel-
come is in order. Now let me explain some things.”

Gauvin began by outlining the unit’s training process. He
said it would take between 12 and 18 months before
Morehouse would be considered operational.

“It takes that long,” Gauvin said, “because there’s testing
and lectures and other things. But it might not actually take
that long. We are constantly finding ways to shorten the train-
ing period. You know, one thing leads to another. We're get-
ting faster and faster.”

Then, leaning across the desk toward Morehouse, Gauvin
became quite serious.

“You have to understand that, once you enter this work,
your life will change and you will never be the same again,”
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he said. "“You will never look at the world the same way again.
You'll never look at your friends, your loved ones in the same
way again. You will have a better understanding of life and of
the universe and it will, in essence, change you forever.

“You'll never be the same person again. When you look
back at what you are now, you'll know that you will never be
that way again because you'll know too much. Your life will
never be the same.”

With that introduction, Army Capt. Morehouse, a self-
styled “shaved-head, high-and-tight, grunt Ranger,’ became
a psychic spy for the U.S. government.
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CHAPTER 2

THE PAST IS
PROLOGUE

Answers began to come to Morehouse with his accep-
tance into the remote viewing unit.

Once his training began, Morehouse found that remote
viewing apparently has been with us throughout history. It
simply has gone by different names. From the earliest writ-
ings there have been accounts of visions, prophesy, soothsay-
ing, and divination. And careful study shows clearly that the
same phenomenon appears to be working in each of these
activities.

In the Vedas, the most ancient written record of man, there
are references to supernatural powers called “siddhis.” Ac-
cording to the venerable Hindu scriptures, these were un-
wanted paranormal side effects of meditation that tended to
distract the meditator.’

Dr. Richard Broughton, director of research at the Institute
for Parapsychology in Durham, North Carolina, has quoted
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from Patanjali's Yoga Sutras, written some 3,500 years ago. His
descriptions of Patanjali's yoga meditation techniques sound
remarkably similar to the techniques developed for remote
viewing:

[Y]oga meditation...[is] a succession of stages in
which outside distractions are reduced.... In the stages
of the meditational process—termed Samyana—para-
normal phenomena may be produced, most commonly
a feeling of clairvoyant omniscience, but sometimes
including physical effects such as levitation, object
movements, and healing.?

Up until very recently, mankind'’s record of psychic phe-
nomena has been inextricably intertwined with religion. So
what does religion tell us about such things?

All of the world’s religions, from the Bible to the Koran to
Orlental mysticism, contain a wealth of stories involving
prophecy, visions, and spiritual instruction. And all seem to
involve visual input.

The Biblical book of Isaiah opens with the statement,
“These are the messages that came to Isaiah, son of Amoz,
in the visions he saw during the reigns of King Uzziah, King
Jotham, King Ahaz and King Hezakiah—all kings of Judah.”

Another Biblical prophet, Ezekiel, appears to be more
than a starry-eyed dreamer. He exhibits the attributes of a
good journalist when, rather than simply state “Once [ had a
vision,’ he instead cites the day, the year, and the month in
Ezekiel 1:1, “In the thirtieth year, in the fourth month, on the
fifth day of the month, as I was among the exiles by the river
Chebar, the heavens were opened and I saw visions of God.”
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According to the Holman Bible Dictionary, early Biblical
prophets influenced almost every institution of Israel, despite
the fact that they often were viewed with contempt, locked up,
ignored, and persecuted. Prophets formed guilds or schools,
and their assistants recorded their words for posterity.®

Biblical prophecy was not limited to men. In the Old
Testament book of Judges, we find that a "prophetess”
named Deborah provided the Israelite leader Barak with in-
formation about the military disposition of Sisera, the com-
mander of the forces of Jabin, the King of Canaan. Sisera’s
forces were routed and thus Deborah, using psychic intelli-
gence, played a pivotal role in the conquest of the Promised
Land. She might rightly be called the world's first military re-
mote viewer (Judges 4:4-16).

Even in the New Testament, prophesy and visions played
an important role as the messianic plan unfolded.

St. Paul offered some advice on prophesy that modern
people might well take to heart. “Do not scoff at those who
prophesy, but test everything that is said to be sure if it is true,
and if it is, then accept it,” he wrote to church members in
Thessalonica (1 Thessalonians 5:20-21).

According to the Greek historian Herodotus, King
Croesus desired to learn strategic military information from
the available prophets and oracles. But he wanted to make
sure that their information was correct. So about the year 550
B.C., Croesus conducted the first recorded test of psychic
abilities. He sent messengers to the top seven oracles of his
day with instructions to approach the oracles exactly 100
days after their departure. They were to ask the oracles to
describe what the king was doing on that day.



On the appointed day, Croesus chose an unkingly activ-
ity. Using a bronze kettle, he cooked up a stew of lamb and
tortoise. Only the oracle at Delphi correctly reported the
king’s activity, stating:

Can [ not number all the grains of sand,

and measure all the water in the sea?

Tho’ a man speak not I can understand,;

Nor are the thoughts of dumb men hid from me.
A tortoise boiling with a lamb I smell:

Bronze underlies and covers them as well.

But then King Croesus learned another lesson: Do not
place blind faith in psychics.

It seems that Croesus, having satisfied himself of the
Delphic oracle’s powers, asked if he should cross the Halys
Mountains and attack Cyrus of Persia. The oracle replied,
“When Croesus has the Halys crossed, a mighty empire will
be lost!” Croesus, thinking his plans were promised success,
attacked Cyrus. But Croesus was defeated and it was his
“mighty empire” that was lost.*

This experience attests to both the problem of correctly
interpreting psychic information and correctly relaying that
information. Of course, because it was the Creek habit of that
time to kill messengers bringing bad news, perhaps the am-
biguous nature of the oracle’s reply is understandable.

Accounts of paranormal powers abound in all of human
history, from the African witch doctor to the Fiji Shaman.
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The powerful spiritual system of Huna found in the
Polynesian Islands contends that each human being consists
of three souls or spirits. The "“Unthipili” and the “Uhane” are
related to the conscious and the subconscious, whereas the
“Aumakau” seems to be a higher self related to psychology’s
“superconsciousness.”’

According to paranormal author Brad Steiger, ancient
Kahuna priests were able to contact this higher self through
the use of a prayer rite known as “Ha.” This rite entailed qui-
eting the mind, eliminating extraneous thoughts or mental
noise, deep breathing, and repetition of techniques, not unlike
the techniques of remote viewing.

Steiger wrote:

[TThis rite can be used by anyone who earnestly
desires to establish this type of contact. If you cor-
rectly follow this format and practice it, you will be
able to accomplish the same kind of feats of telepathy,
clairvoyance and healing that the Kahunas did regu-
larly in earlier times—and still do in secret today:®

American Indians have a rich heritage of belief in pow-
ers beyond the five senses. This heritage of visions and
prophecy is typified by a story told by Mathew King, a tradi-
tionalist spokesman for the Lakota people. (“Don't call us
Sioux, that's the White Man'’s name for us.”) According to King;,
he once went up on a mountain and prayed to God for a cure
for diabetes. He reported:

And while I was there, somebody said, “Turn
around!” So I turned around and there was the most



beautiful Indian woman I'd ever seen. She had long
black hair and the most wonderful face. She was hold-
Ing something out to me in her hand. It was those little
berries of the cedar, the dark blue berries on cedar
trees. She held them out but before I could reach out
my hand she disappeared....Later on when I got diabe-
tes, [ forgot about the berries. They sent me to White
Man's doctors. They gave me pills. Every morning [
had to take insulin. I spent a lot of time in the hospital.
Then I remembered White Buffalo Calf Woman and
those little blue berries. [ picked some, boiled them,
strained the juice and drank it. It's so bitter it took the
sugar right out of my body. The doctors checked me
and were amazed. They said the diabetes was gone. I
didn’t have to take insulin anymore. They asked me
how [ did it, but I didn't say. God gave us medicine to
share with people, but if the White Man gets his hands
on it he’ll charge you a great price and will let you die
if you don't have it. God'’s medicine is free.®

Many other writers have documented the mysticism and
belief in the paranormal that form an integral part of Native
American lore.

After describing how ancient Indians used sheets of mica
or quartz to send heliograms over considerable distances,
author Arthur C. Parker went on to say, ‘Marvelous as these
methods of signaling may seem, there were medicine men
who claimed that they could send their thoughts through the
alr and make things come to pass from afar. Others could
send their mind’s eyes to distance places and discover what
was happening.’’
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In one study of native North American spirituality, the
story was repeated of a Penobscot Indian who went on a hunt-
ing trip with his wife, son, and daughter-in-law. The women
stayed behind at a hunting camp while the men went off,
promising to return within three days.

After four or five days, the women became anxious about
the men’s safety. One night the Penobscot wife told the
daughter-in-law that she was going to sleep and would
dream about the men. After a long time, during which the
younger woman believed she saw a “ball of fire” exit and en-
ter the wife’s body, the wife finally stirred and said, “Don'’t
worry, they will be back tomorrow. They had good luck and
are bringing lots of game. [ just saw them sitting by their fire
eating supper.” The next day the hunters returned loaded
with an abundance of game ®

There are even bits of information relating to Indian lore
that suggest that their psychic travels may have penetrated
beyond this world.

In the early 20th century an Osage, Playful Calf, told
anthropologist Francis La Flesche about his studies with tribal
elders, called No-ho-zhi-ga. He said:

My son, the ancient No-ho-zhi-ga have handed
down to us, In songs, wi-gi-e, ceremonial forms and sym-
bols the many things they learned of the mysteries that
surround us on all sides. All these things they learned
through their power of wa-thi-gtho, the power to search
with the mind. They speak of the mysteries of the light of
day by which the earth and all living things that dwell
thereon are mfluenced; of the mysteries of the darkness



of night that reveal to us all the great bodies of the upper
world, each of which forever travels in a circle upon its
own path, unimpeded by the others. They searched, for
a long period of time, for the source of life and at last
came to the thought that it issues from in invisible cre-
ative power to which they applied the name Wa-Ko-da.”®

In Mexico it has been well documented that, for at least
four generations before the arrival of the Spanish, prophecies
abounded that one day strange bearded men would arrive
from across the sea wearing “caskets” on their heads. Ac-
cording to the legends, these men, armed with sharp swords,
would overrun Mexico and destroy the Aztec gods. '

Stories such as these abound and some reach right up to
modern times.

Stephan A. Schwartz, who pioneered psychic archaeology
in his book, The Secret Vaults of Time, wrote of a researcher in
the late 1950s who described how Indians would contact
relatives through long-distance extrasensory perception.
According to the researcher, “certain members of the
Montagnais habitually repair to the woods, set up a log shel-
ter about the size of a telephone booth, get inside and, when
the power is sufficiently strong, make contact with a friend or
relative who may be hundreds of miles away'!!

Just as the Indians routinely practiced meditation tech-
niques both as a means of communication as well as to view
future events, prophecy and soothsaying likewise were com-
mon practices in ancient Rome, despite being frowned upon
officially. Both in history and in literature it is well recorded
that Julius Caesar was forewarned of his assassination in the
Roman senate during the "“Ides of March.”
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One of the most remarkable of the Roman “seers” was
Apollonius of Tyana. During a speech to a crowd in Ephesus,
Apollonius suddenly broke off his talk and cried in a loud
voice, "Ephesians, it is done. At this moment, the tyrant has
fallen and [ see Rome acclaiming its liberty.” A few days later
word arrived in Ephesus that the Roman Emperor Domitian
had been stabbed to death by his wife’s servants.

Apollonius, who was well traveled and well versed in both
Eastern and Western philosophy, said renunciation of mate-
rial things resulted in “the opening of the eyes upon the infi-
nite world of immortal essences’ and the ability to "measure
all time with a glance, to embrace all things in one thought.’!2
Years before the events, Apollonius correctly foretold the des-
tiny of the seven Roman emperors who reigned between AD.
68 and 96.

The time of the Middle Ages was replete with soothsay-
ers and diviners such as Hermes Trismegistus, Albertus
Magnus, Pico (Count of Mirandola), Porta, and Roger Bacon.

Bacon, a Franciscan friar born into a well-to-do English
family, was educated at both Oxford and the University of
Paris. He studied all medieval sciences—alchemy, as-
tronomy, astrology, optics, and mathematics—but Bacon is
best remembered for his unerring predictions. In Epistola de
Secretis, written in 1268, he wrote of “'chariots...that will move
with incredible rapidity without the help of animals,” “an en-
gine [in the sense of a device, in this instance an uncanny de-
scription of the elevator]...whereby a man may ascend or
descend any walls,” and "‘vessels might be made to move
without oars or rowers, so that ships of great size might move
on sea or on river...."!®



Bacon described modern explosives so well that for
many years, Westerners attributed him with the invention of
gunpowder. Bacon wrote:

Sounds like thunder can be made in the air but
more terrifying than those which occur in nature; for an
appropriate material in moderate quantity, as big as a
man’s thumb, makes a horrible noise and shows a vio-
lent flash; and this can be done in many ways by which
a whole town or army may be destroyed.!*

Near the end of the 14th century the French prophetess
Marie d’'Avignon had visions of “‘a maid who should restore
France.” Of course, she foresaw one of history’s most famous
figures: Joan of Arc. Saint Joan herself was a visionary and
diviner who used her power of supernatural sight to great
advantage during her battles to liberate France from the
English.'®

Once, according to her confessor Jean Pasquerel, Joan
passed a horseman who cursed her. Joan told the man, “In
God’s name, do you swear, and you so near your death?”
Within the hour, the man fell into the moat of Castle Chinon
and was drowned.

On March 1, 1431, during her trial for heresy at the hands
of the French clerics who sympathized with the English, Joan
stated, "I know that before seven years are passed the English
will lose a greater stake than they did at Orleans, and that they
will lose all they hold in France.” The English lost Normandy,
their last foothold in France, at the battle of Formigny in 1439,
only one year later than Joan's prediction. '

But the visions of Saint Joan and Bacon pale when com-
pared to the most famous of medieval seers. During his training,
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Morehouse studied the prophecies of Michel de Nostredame,
better known to history as simply Nostradamus.

Nostradamus, already well respected in his own time as
a physician and scientist, assured his place in history as a
prophet by the publication of his book, Centuries, in 1555.

Due to the zeal of the Inquisition, Nostradamus was forced
to used a skillful combination of puns, anagrams, and scien-
tific and astrological jargon to prevent his arrest as a practi-
tioner of witchcraft. Actually, Nostradamus, whose family
included men educated in both the Christian and Jewish
traditions, became a devout Christian and always attributed
his prophetic insight to powers given by God.!?

Though many of the four-line quatrains in Centuries are
obscure and defy interpretation, others are astoundingly
clear. For example, in Century II: Quatrain 51, he wrote, “The
blood of the just will be demanded of London burnt by fire in
three times twenty plus six. The ancient Dame will fall from
her high position and many of the same denomination will be
killed"*®

There can be little debate that Nostradamus was refer-
ring to the Creat Fire of London in 1666, as he named both the
place and the date. The "“ancient Dame" refers to the statute
of the Virgin Mary, which fell from the roof of St. Paul's Cathedral
during the fire that consumed many innocent Christians.

Although most of Nostradamus'’s writings described
events in Europe and near to his own time, many seem to have
a bearing on more modern times. His descriptions of the
Emperor Napoleon are particularly convincing and, in
Century VIII:Quatrain 1, he even named this “Emperor...born



near ltaly [who] will cost his empire dearly” as one “PAU, NAY,
LORON,” a fairly obvious anagram for NAPAULON ROY,
Napoleon the King.'* The spelling of Napoleon in Corsician
is Napauleone.

Century IV: 75 appears to be a good description of
Napoleon's defeat and retreat from snow-bound Russia: ‘He
who was ready to fight will desert, the chief adversary will win
the victory. The rear guard will make a defense, those falter-
ing, dying in a white country’'%

In Century IX: 16, Nostradamus again names the person
he foresees: "From Castille Franco will bring out the assem-
bly, the ambassadors will not agree and cause a schism. The
people of Riviera will be in the crowd and the great man will
be denied entry to the Gulf!?! According to interpreter Erika
Cheetham, "“Franco” refers to Spain'’s Francisco Franco, and
“Riviera” may well refer to the dictator Primo de Rivera, who
was deposed by Franco. The last line well describes Franco’s
exile when he was not allowed to cross the Mediterranean to
his native Spain.

Nostradamus wrote in Century [V: 68: “At a nearby place
not far from Venus, the two greatest ones of Asia and Africa
will be said to have come from the Rhine and Hister; cries
and tears at Malta and the Ligurian coast.’?? Cheetham has
written that this verse hinges on the word Venus, which she
sees as actually meaning Venice. Thus the verse refers to the
meeting at the Brenner Pass (near Venice) of Musssolini,
Hitler (Hister), and the Japanese to sign the Tripartite Pact.
“Africa” refers to Mussolini's attempts to seize Ethiopia, and
the last line describes the ensuing combat in the Mediterranean
between British and Axis forces.
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Century lII:35 again seems to be referring to Hitler: “From
the deepest part of Western Europe, a young child will be
born to poor parents; who by his speech will seduce a great
multitude, his reputation will increase in the Kingdom of the
East.’2% Hitler, born of poor parents in Austria, used his ora-
tory powers to seduce the German nation and boost his repu-
tation in Japan, which became his Axis partner.

Writers have described how Nostradamus foresaw
events ranging from the assassinations of John and Robert
Kennedy to the fall of Communism. Some even claim that
Nostradamus foresaw the 1986 space shuttle Challenger di-
saster when he wrote in Century 1:81, “Nine will be set apart
from the Human flock, separated from judgment and advice.
Their fate is to be decided as they depart. The unripe fruit will
be a scandal, [they] dead, banished and scattered.’2*

Admittedly there is no certain interpretation of
Nostradamus’s writings, though his predictions have been
uncannily correct in many instances, enough so that every-
one who has studied the French seer at any length has realized
that his accuracy rating goes far beyond any simple trick or
ingenious interpretation.

How did Nostradamus gain his prophetic insights? He
provided the answer in Century [:1-2:

Being seated by night in secret study, alone resting
on the brass tripod. A slight flame comes out of the
emptiness and makes successful that which should not
be believed in vain. With rod in hand set in the midst of
the three branches, with water he wets both limb and
foot; with fearful voice, trembling In his clothes, Divine
splendor. The divine sits nearby.?®



Although certain variations of translation of this passage
exist, the overall meaning is clear: Nostradamus would closet
himself at night in his secret study and place a cup of water
on a brass tripod. This method of divining was described by
4th-century neo-Platonist lamblichus in his 1547 book, De
Mysteriiss Egyptorum, and most probably was read by
Nostradamus.

After quieting his mind, Nostradamus would stare into the
water until, acquiring a meditative state, he would see visions
of the future. Again this methodology is strikingly similar to
that devised for remote viewing.

During the reign of England’s Queen Elizabeth I, court
astrologer John Dee became another early psi spy when he
claimed to have received a psychic message that Spanish
agents were plotting to burn the forests that provided wood
for the English fleet. Precautions were taken and history
records how a well-fitted, if outnumbered, British navy
defeated the Spanish Armada in 1588, thus establishing
England as a world power. (It is interesting to note that John
Dee became Her Majesty’s first “James Bond,” as he signed
his reports with the code numbers “007."27)

As the 19th century approached, much of the advances in
parapsychology can be attributed to Franz Anton Mesmer,
whose name became synonymous with mesmerism or hypno-
tism. Mesmer was an Austrian-born scientist and philosopher.

According to British author and paranormal expert Colin
Wilson, Mesmer developed ideas that are "‘virtually the intel-
lectual cornerstone of modern psychology.” Wilson wrote:

..Mesmer [developed] the notion that the universe
1s permeated by some “magnetic fluid,” and that the
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stars and the planets cause “tides” in this fluid....
Mesmer believed that these “tides’ cause sickness
and health in human beings, for we are also full of a
kind of magnetic fluid generated by the nerves. When
this fluid becomes blocked or stagnant, we become ill.
When it is unblocked—by magnets, or by the doctor’s
own ‘‘animal magnetism”—we become well again.?®

After moving to Paris in 1778, Mesmer’s odd claims
caused such an uproar that a Royal Commission of Inquiry
was convened to look into the matter. This commission, which
included the American ambassador, Benjamin Franklin, con-
cluded that Mesmer'’s claims of healing through magnetism
were most probably caused by suggestion. However, despite
this report and the chaos of the French Revolution, interest in
Mesmer'’s claims continued.

In 1826, the French Academies of the Sciences and of
Medicine created a second commission to study Mesmer’s
methods. Skeptics fully expected a report as dismissive as
the first. However, they were startled by the commission’s
conclusions.

According to Richard Broughton:

The Commission acknowledged that they could
not precisely identify what the trance state was but that
they were convinced that it was genuine. Moreover,
they felt it could give rise to “new faculties which have
been designated by the terms clairvoyance, intuition,
interior prevision.” Finally they urged the academies to
encourage further research into “magnetism,” which
they regarded as a “'very curious branch of psychologi-
cal and natural history”’ The leaders of the academies



were not pleased with the report and did nothing to fol-
low the commission’s recommendation.?®

After many years of controversy in the scientific and medi-
cal communities, Mesmer'’s ideas were finally refined into
what we know today as hypnotism.

Also during the 19th century, public notice was drawn to
an Englishman named William Denton, who documented
some of the earliest pure remote viewing. As a young man,
Denton converted to Methodism, moved to the United States,
and married a Cincinnati woman. By the mid-1800s, Denton
was professor of geology at the University of Boston.

At the time, clairvoyance went by the name of psychom-
etry, and Denton became very involved in the study of view-
ing far-off locations by means of holding some object
connected to the particular place. He found a very excellent
psychometric subject in the person of his wife, Elizabeth.*°

According to Wilson:

..Denton took a precaution which reveals that he was
a genuine scientist, determined to rule out all possibility
of auto-suggestion. He tried wrapping several specimens
[of rock] in separate sheets of paper, then mixing them
up, so he had no idea which was which. Then he handed
his wife one of them. She had a vision of a volcano, with
molten lava flowing down its side. ““The specimen must
be lava,’ said Mrs. Denton, and she was right.®!

Mrs. Denton’s success record of “seeing” by touching
objects was remarkable and well documented. As she be-
came more skilled, she was even able to discern different
periods of history in the specimens.
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On one occaslion Denton handed his wife a fragment of
mosaic pavement that had been excavated from the villa of
the Roman orator Cicero. Denton, hoping to hear a descrip-
tion of the famous Roman, asked his wife to describe what
impressions she got from the fragment.

Mrs. Denton described a Roman scene, complete with
a large columned villa and heavy velvet drapes. She also
saw lines of helmeted soldiers and described their leader
as "‘a fleshy man with a broad face and blue eyes. He is ma-
jestic, yet has a good deal of geniality about him too,” she
said. “He regards himself as superior, and withdraws from
others.’3?

Denton was disappointed. His wife’s description did not
appear to match that of Cicero, who was tall and thin. Yet
some time later Denton discovered that the Roman dictator
Sulla had been the previous owner of Cicero’s house. Sulla
was a convivial man who was fond of his friends and called
“lucky Sulla” by his troops. Thus, it must have been Sulla that
Denton’s wife saw in her vision, a clear indication that
Denton’s own expectations had little or no influence on her
psychic voyage.*

In a book published in 1873, Denton tried to describe
what his wife experienced as she remote viewed other
planes of existence:

The question is often asked, where are all these
things that the psychometer sees? The following, unex-
pectedly seen by Mrs. Denton, may shed some light
upon this question. Can this be the realm into which the
spirit is ushered at death? Or is there a still more interior



realm, from which we receive echoes occasionally, but
of which we still know so little? [Mrs. Denton stated] “I
am in a different realm from any I have ever before
observed....Yet it appears to be a realm of real, sub-
stantial existences, stretching back, and backward still,
almost interminably, into both time and space. I see
forms—people and the results of their labors; even the
very efforts that produced the results. At first [ thought
it a species of mirage. It seemed like a picture of all
that had ever been; yet now it seems to me that [ could
step from this planet upon that world—I can call it noth-
ing else—and travel back through all the scenes that
have ever transpired in this. What a difference between
that which we recognize as matter here and that which
seems like matter there! In the one, the elements are so
coarse and so angular, I wonder that we can endure it
all, much more that we can desire to continue our
present relations to it: In the other, all the elements are
so refined, they are so free from those great, rough an-
gularities which characterize the elements here, that I
can but regard that as, by so much more than this, the
real existence.”**

Denton wrote, “I have good reason to believe that trained
psychometers will be able to travel from planet to planet
and read their present condition minutely, and their past
history'®

The Psi Spies claim the visions of Mrs. Denton match ex-
actly the experience of remote viewers who have ventured
into planes of existence other than our own.
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Mesmer’s hypnotism and Denton’s psychometry were
joined by spiritualism and mediumship to create a great
public interest in psychic phenomena during the latter 19th
century and early 20th century. And as with any topic of pub-
lic interest, charlatans and hoaxers abounded.

Paranormal research moved into the realm of modern
science in 1882 when a group of scientists and scholars met
in London to form the Society for Psychical Research (SPR).

For the first time, the techniques of modern science—
standardized descriptions and methodology, disciplined ex-
periments, and so forth—were applied to psychic phenomena.

Among the accomplishments of the SPR was the expo-
sure of fraudulent mediums and spiritualists. In 1884, follow-
ing an investigation of Elena Hahn, better known as Madame
Blavatsky, founder of the mystical Theosophical Society, the
SPR caustically termed her “one of the most accomplished,
ingenious, and interesting impostors in history’"*

But the SPR did much more than chase hoaxes. Its re-
search into psychic experiences was prodigious and laid the
foundation for all psychical study to follow.

One of the SPR’s more notable researchers was Charles
Richet, professor of physiology at the University of Paris
medical school and a future Nobel Prize winner. Richet stud-
ied clairvoyance by having subjects identify playing cards
placed in opaque envelopes, thus pioneering the methods
that were later used by the well-known psychic researcher
J.B. Rhine **

Joseph Banks Rhine (always known to his friends as sim-
ply ].B.) and Louisa Weckesser had been companions since



thelr teenage years, and both had completed Ph.D. de-
grees in botany at the University of Chicago in the early
1920s. After their marriage, it appeared both Rhines would
pursue a career in botany, but this was all changed by a
chance encounter with the famous author Sir Arthur Conan
Doyle, creator of Sherlock Holmes and himself an ardent stu-
dent of psychic phenomena. After hearing Doyle speak on
psychical research, ].B. turned his attention to this fledgling
science.

Soon both Rhines were heavily involved in psychic re-
search at Duke University in Durham, North Carolina. Ac-
cording to Broughton, “While scholars regard the founding of
the SPR in 1882 as the start of psychical research as a sci-
ence, they consider the arrival of the Rhines at Duke University
in September 1927 as the start of its professionalization [em-
phasis in original]."®

The thrust of the Rhines’ experimentation was initially sta-
tistical. Using specially designed cards, hundreds of sub-
jects would try and guess which card would come up next.
By 1932, Rhine and his associates had clearly demonstrated
the existence of psychic phenomena. Rhine applied the term
extrasensory perception (ESP)to his findings. But, perhaps
more importantly, he had demonstrated that ESP involved
natural relationships in the same manner as ordinary psy-
chological phenomena.

In 1938, a young man approached ].B. Rhine and claimed
that when he gambled he could influence the roll of the dice
simply by concentrating on them. Previously Rhine had only
studied ESP Causing a physical reaction with the mind is
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known as psychokinesis (PK). Rhine’s curiosity was piqued
and he promptly turned his statistical procedures to
dice-tossing.

Wilson wrote, “Rhine’s experiments showed the gambler
was correct; he could, to some extent, influence the dice to
turn up sixes. Since then, there have been thousands of simi-
lar experiments, and the evidence for PK is regarded as
overwhelming.’*°

Broughton noted that, although the man was able to pro-
duce results that supported his claim, “‘even more interesting
for Rhine was that some of his ESP subjects were similarly
able to influence the fall of dice. Even Rhine himself had some
success at it."*

From 1927 until ].B. Rhine's death in 1970, the husband
and wife team produced a prodigious amount of scientific
papers demonstrating the existence of both ESP and PX. This
exciting research into psychic phenomena was presented in
dry publications with titles such as “Experiments Bearing on
the Precognition Hypothesis: Pre-shuffling Card Calling” and
“A Review of the Pearce-Pratt Distance Series of ESP Tests.”

The Rhines did acquire their fair share of critics. Yet
through the years they quietly, yet steadfastly, answered every
criticism that came up. In 1940, the Rhines, along with other
parapsychologists, produced a book entitled Extra-Sensory
Perception After Sixty Years, a compendium of psychical re-
search since the founding of the SPR in 1882. The research
presented in this book was so careful and scientific that the
book became assigned reading for introductory psychol-
ogy classes at Harvard for the 1940-41 academic year.*!



Even the most cursory look back over the historical
record of psychic phenomena should convince the most
steadfast skeptic that there is definitely something beyond
the five human senses at work here.

As late as World War 11, sensitive military information was
being received by psychic means, and in England, this meant
jail time for an otherwise nondescript Scottish housewife.

Helen Duncan had spent a quiet life raising a number of
children and occasionally demonstrating her psychic talent
through local séances. But in wartime Britain, she quickly
came to the attention of the authorities after twice reportedly
telling of ships sinking before the news was made public. In
January 1944, Duncan was arrested during a Portsmouth
psychic reading and charged with vagrancy. Fearful that she
might talk about the upcoming plans for the invasion of
France, British authorities whisked her off to stand trial in Old
Bailey and upgraded the charge against her to conspiracy to
violate a 1735 law against witchcraft.

Despite numerous witnesses who testified to the reality
and accuracy of her psychic powers, and representatives of
the law societies in both Scotland and England terming her
trial a travesty of justice, Duncan was found guilty and served
a nine-month prison term, keeping her under wraps until
long after D-Day.

Even Prime Minister Winston Churchill futilely tried to inter-
cede for Mrs. Duncan. In his memoirs written years later,
Churchill credited psychic guidance in leading him to a friendly
home during his escape as a prisoner during the Boer War.

Inlate 1956, Duncan was again seized by police and died
less than a month later, many believed as a direct result of the
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trauma of her arrest. In 1998, the British news media re-
ported continued efforts to have Mrs. Duncan pardoned
posthumously.*?

“Until this very day, psychic viewing is looked on by the
British establishment with horror,” noted Tim Rifat in his 1999
book Remote Viewing. "“A country such as the UK, obsessed
with secrecy, cannot allow remote viewing to become public
knowledge....”*

After many hours studying the history of the remote view-
ing experience, David Morehouse grew anxious to try his
hand at it.

One day after a brief lunch, Morehouse found himself in
one of the small viewing rooms in Building 2562 with the
pretty Gabriella Pettingale acting as instructor. The room was
painted a dull gray with gray carpets and a gray table in the
center. Track lights on the ceiling ran the length of the table.
Pettingale sat on one end and Morehouse on the other.

Looking around, Morehouse muttered, “This place looks
like some prison interrogation cell.”

Pettingale explained that the drabness was necessary to
keep the surroundings aesthetically bland during a remote
viewing session so there would be no distractions.

“Tust adjust your chair any way you want,’ said Pettingale
congenially.

“Shit,” Morehouse muttered to himself. “I've never done
this before. I don't know if [ want the damn thing lying back,
sitting up straight, or jacked up higher than the table.”



As Morehouse fumbled with his chair, Pettingale handed
him a stack of white, blank paper, placing one sheet in front
of him.

“Here's what we call an ‘Ingo pen, ”’ she said, handing him
a black ball-point pen with a broad tip. He learned it was
named after the man who was instrumental in developing
much of the methodology for remote viewing: Ingo Swann.

“You'll find a rheostat under the table,’ she said, resum-
ing her seat. “Adjust the lights any way you like.” Morehouse
dimmed the lights slightly, thinking, Under other circum-
stances this could be romantic. But here I am in a top secret
military unit in a dim room with a pretty woman and [ don't
have a clue about what I'm supposed to do.

It had been explained that he would be given a set of
coordinates, just some numbers, and that he was sup-
posed to draw an ideogram and then interpret it. An ideo-
gram was described as simply a mark on the paper that
represented the main concept of the target of his mental
search.

He had learned these fundamentals already, but had no
idea how it was all supposed to work.

Placing his pen on the sheet of paper, Morehouse waited
expectantly as Pettingale read out the coordinates. There was
a long period of silence. Morehouse stared at his hand. Noth-
ing happened.

His mind was racing. Okay, something is supposed to
happen here. It's supposed to move. But nothing happened.
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Pettingale declared a break in the session. Morehouse
didn’t want a break; he wanted something to happen. Later
he learned that taking a break was an important part of the
remote viewing discipline.

A few minutes later, they began again. Pettingale read out
the coordinates and Morehouse sat staring at his hand. It
didn’t move.

“Let’s take another break,’ Pettingale declared. After a
moment, she looked at Morehouse and said, “‘Look, David, it's
not like something is going to grab your hand and drag it
across the paper for you. When you hear the coordinate, just
allow your hand to move across the paper.”

Morehouse was feeling very incompetent. Great, he
thought. How do [ allow my hand to move across the paper? |
mean, you're talking to a grunt soldier here.

Pettingale took a deep breath and repeated the coordi-
nates again.

Without his thinking or willing it, Morehouse’s hand began
to move across the paper. It moved slightly across and then
move sharply upwards and back down.

Morehouse looked up with a grin of relief and ac-
complishment. Pettingale was not smiling. “Now decode
it. Describe how it felt.”

“I feel it rising sharply upwards,” Morehouse said
confidently.

“Fine. Now touch the ideogram with your pen point and
tell me what you feel”



Morehouse was again perplexed. He did as he was told
and mumbled, “I feel a pen-point touching the paper.”

Pressing him, Pettingale said, “No, open up, relax, close
your eyes, feel what it is.”

His anxiety level was increasing. He had no idea what he
was supposed to be getting. Was he supposed to be feeling
something through the paper, or was some small voice sup-
posed to say something to him? Morehouse, the highly trained
combat soldier, was at a loss.

Suddenly Pettingale’s voice cut through his mental tur-
moil. “Does it feel man-made?”

Morehouse’s mind focused on her question. Somehow,
from somewhere deep inside of him, he knew the answer.
There was nothing analytical about it, simply an undefined
gut feeling.

“No, it doesn't feel man-made.’
“Well then. What is it?"

“It’s rising up sharply. It's natural.” He was just verbaliz-
ing his thoughts as they came. “It's a mountain,” he blurted
out, surprised at the conviction in his voice.

“Very good,” said Pettingale. “That'’s all for now. Write ‘end
session’ at the bottom of your paper.”

Walking over to Morehouse, she handed him a manila
folder. “Here'’s your feedback,’ she said with a broad smile on
her face. She turned and walked out.

Looking inside the folder, Morehouse was stunned to find
a photograph of Japan’s Mount Fuji. It was indeed a mountain.
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Morehouse sat in the room for a long time, thinking. He felt
like a kid again, full of awe and excitement. Holy shit! It really
works. And I can do 1t/

He felt as if a whole new world had just opened up for
him.
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CHAPTER 3

SCIENCE’S CUTTING
EDGE

After his success with viewing Mount Fuji, Morehouse
was brimming with excitement. Still, he harbored some
doubts he couldn't entirely shake. Had it been simply begin-
ners luck? A fluke?

Whatever it had been, his curiosity about remote viewing
was soaring, and he was more than ready to return to the
lengthy studies of psychic history.

He learned there had never been a slowdown in parapsy-
chological research, there was simply a tremendous lag in
the public’s perception. This was due to the ongoing contro-
versy between psychical evidence and steadfast debunkers
in the scientific and medical communities. Because of the
controversy, writers in the news media tended to report from
one extreme or the other—either uncritically recounting
stories of amazing psychic powers or passing off psychic
accounts in a dismissive manner.

71



Despite the impressive historical record and the ever-
growing body of scientific evidence for the existence of
psychic phenomena, the battle between believers and
skeptics continues unabated. However, two recent de-
velopments in the field of parapsychology may present
a definitive answer to the question of the reality of psy-
chic abilities. These are the Ganzfeld Technique and
meta-analysis.

Ganzfeld, from the German for ‘whole field,” refers to ESP
experiments in which the human subject is placed in a mild
state of sensory deprivation so as to exclude any possibility
that outside influences may be affecting psychic testing. In
some cases light, sound, and color are used to block the
subject’s normal senses and create a soothing environment
with nothing to distract the subject.

This type of experiment first began in the early 1960s at
the Maimonides Dream Laboratory, an adjunct of the
Maimonides Medical Center in Brooklyn, New York. The
dream studies produced impressive results. In one 1970 test,
a young English psychic named Malcolm Bessent described
his prophetic dream by describing various types of birds. "I
just have a feeling the next target material will be about
birds,’ Bessent told the experimenters.

The next day, a lab member who had not been in con-
tact with Bessent randomly selected the next dream target:
a slide show with a soundtrack devoted to a variety of
birds. Just as a control condition, Bessent was told to try
and dream about birds, but none appeared in his dreams.!

The Maimonides Dream Lab closed in 1978 due to lack of
funding, but the results of experiments there are still being
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studied. One such study was described by Richard
Broughton:

In 1988, Alan Vaughan, one of the participants
in the dream project, and Jessica Utts, a University of
California statistician, performed a statistical ap-
praisal of the entire project. Using the Maimonides
definition of a hit as a mean ranking by the judges that
fell in the upper half of the possible range, Vaughan and
Utts found there were a total of 233 hits in 379 trials, or
an accuracy rate of 83.5 percent (where chance would
be 50 percent). The odds against chance for this
are better than a quarter of a million to one. Psychic
dreams—about the present and the future—had been
brought into the laboratory.?

It was from the Maimonides experiments that one team
member, Charles Honorton, a former student of ].B. Rhine,
developed an interest not only in dreams, but in altered states
of consciousness. Honorton theorized that ESP signals might
be overwhelmed by signals from our conventional senses.
After studying the historical record, he came to believe that
one must achieve "a quietness,” almost a meditative state, to
produce psychic results on demand.

During a period of years, Honorton developed Ganzfeld
Techniques including the placement of ping-pong ball
halves over the subject’s eyes and earphones over the ears,
and sitting the subject in a soft reclining chair and ridding
the test environment of any distracting noises.®

While Honorton was perfecting his Ganzfeld Technique,
a second technique was being developed that has brought
parapsychology much closer to scientific acceptability.



Meta-analysisis a term coined by University of Colorado
psychologist Gene Glass to describe a technique of gaining
an overview of any particular subject by combining separate
experiments into one.

Harvard University’s Robert Rosenthal used meta-analysis
effectively in his studies of interpersonal expectancy effects,
which is the tendency for investigators in psychological stud-
ies to unconsciously bias a subject’s responses. In other
words, an investigator may gain the answer he or she seeks
by the way a question is presented.

Meta-analysis has been applied to both the historical
record and to the many psychic experiments of recent years.*
And although most effects of these experiments appear to
be weak—recall that researchers have long stated that psi
signals are easily drown out by our strong sensory signals—
nevertheless meta-analysis gives support to the psychic
experience. Broughton wrote, “[S]everal lines of parapsy-
chological research are undoubtedly producing consistent,
reliable effects that cannot be attributed to chance, poor meth-
odology, or the vagaries of a few experimenters or unusual
studies.”®

It was meta-analysis that, in 1985, enabled Honorton to
overcome the arguments of one of his chief critics, psycholo-
gist Ray Hyman. That year, in a debate sponsored by the
Journal of Parapsychology, Hyman attacked Honorton'’s data-
base of the success rate for ESP research. Claiming
Honorton's figures were a gross overestimate of the success
rate, Hyman presented his own statistical analysis, which pur-
ported to show that the Ganzfeld experiments with the great-
est flaws were the very ones exhibiting the best ESP scores.
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For his part, Honorton focused on 28 studies comprising
835 Ganzfeld sessions in 10 different laboratories. Significant
results were obtained in 43 percent of these studies. “The
odds against that result arising by chance are greater than
one billion to one,” reported Broughton.®

After further rounds of attack and counterattack across
the meta-analysis battlefield by both Hyman and Honorton
and their associates, both sides drew closer together. In a
surprising “Joint Communique,’ both Hyman and Honorton
agreed that the effects demonstrated in the Ganzfeld data-
base “cannot reasonably be explained by selective report-
ing or multiple analyses.”” In other words, there were
significant effects in the studies. But, of course, neither
Hyman nor Honorton could agree on what caused these ef-
fects. Interestingly enough, it was Hyman who, in 1995, was
selected by the CIA to coproduce a dismissive report on
remote viewing.

British mathematician and psi skeptic Christopher Scott
was prompted to term Honorton's presentation “the most con-
vincing argument for the existence of ESP that [ have yet en-
countered,” and even meta-analysis pioneer Rosenthal
indicated he felt the Ganzfeld studies had demonstrated some
effect.®

After reviewing the Ganzfeld debate issue, Broughton,
a former president of the International Parapsychological
Association, wrote:

Meta-analysis has shown that these impressive
ESP results are consistent across experiments and ex-
perimenters. They are not just statistical flukes—or
possibly suspicious results—associated with one



experimenter or just a few series. While it would be
rash to say that anyone can run a successful
Ganzfeld experiment, there can be no doubt that, in the
hands of a competent experimenter, the Ganzfeld-ESP
Is a repeatable experiment. [Emphasis in original.]*

Harold E. Puthoff, one of the pioneers of remote viewing,
agreed that with more modern methodolgy, such as meta-
analysis, more acceptance has been gained in the scientific
community. He said:

Early on there was a relative degree of nonaccep-
tance except by people who were predisposed to believe
that there might be something to it. So the big change in
the intervening years since I finished working in that area
is that experiments have continued to be replicated by
various laboratories. I would say that things have
changed. Scientists are more willing to take an objective
look today. There is a broader climate of acceptance.’®

It was into this "“climate of acceptance’ that remote view-
ing was first introduced.

But to trace the development of remote viewing, one must
first trace the development of the one man most responsible for
today’s understanding and use of the phenomenon: Ingo
Swann.

Swann is a remarkable person. Generally soft-spoken, he
sits with cigar and wine glass in hand in his 19th-century
brick office/studio/home in New York City, impressing visitors
with his paintings, his knowledge of science and history, and
his descriptions of psychic travels.
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Scattered about his home are various filing cabinets and
drawers filled with scientific literature spanning several de-
cades. “I don't like to be referred to as a ‘psychic,” groused
Swann. “I was trained in biology and I consider myself first
and foremost a scientist.” As such, Swann has performed ESP
research only under the most stringent laboratory conditions.

“My life-long interest has focused on studies of creativ-
ity and the various kinds of creative processes and abilities
of which I feel psi phenomena are adjunct and contributing
parts. My views on psi thus often differ from parapsychologi-
cal approaches I feel isolate the psi phenomenon away from
holistic human phenomena and functional creative pro-
cesses,” he has stated.!!

Theses regarding his laboratory work in parapsychology
earned Swann a master of humanities degree in 1990 and a
doctor of humanities degree in 1991 from The International
College of Spiritual and Psychic Sciences in Montreal.

Scientist though he may be, Swann'’s experiences in the
paranormal date back to his childhood.

Born Ingo Douglas Swan on September 14, 1933, in
Telluride, Colorado, Swann was a free-spirited youth who
spent much of his time in the outdoors. He came from solid
Swedish stock. His parents, who immigrated to the United
States, brought with them the virtues of frugality, hard work,
and obedience to authority.

Just as the Rockies nurtured his spirit, his intellect was
nurtured by reading. Swann claimed that by age 3 he read a
dictionary from cover to cover, and between the ages of 4 and
7, he read the entire Encyclopedia Britannica.



One particular incident at age 2 has stayed with Swann
throughout his life. He was taken to a hospital for a tonsillec-
tomy. Frightened by the experience, young Swann fought with
the nurses and the doctor.

Suddenly a nurse appeared with a half-filled balloon. "I
bet you can't blow this up further,’ she said. Taking the challenge,
Swann began blowing on the balloon and quickly realized he
had been tricked. The balloon was filled with ether, and each
inhalation brought him closer to unconsciousness.

An ether mask was finally placed over his face, but the
enraged youth found his mind slipping into a different view-
point. As he looked down on the operation as an observer, he
saw the doctor place a cutting instrument down his throat and
heard him mutter, “Shit!” when he accidentally cut Swann's
tongue. He saw the doctor take his two small tonsils from his
mouth and place them in a small bottle, which a nurse placed
behind some rolls of tissues on a counter.

He was aware as the doctor sewed up the slice in his
tongue and as he began to regain consciousness, he said, "I
want my tonsils.”

A nurse told him that his tonsils had already been thrown
away. Young Swann replied emphatically, “No, you didn't.”
Pointing to the rolls of tissue, he astounded everyone present by
proclaiming, ‘“You put them behind those over there. Give them
to me. Mama, the doctor said ‘Shit!’ when he cut my tongue.”!?

Swann'’s psychic experiences also included the remem-
brance of past lives. But all this was pushed into the back of
his mind as he grew to manhood.



Science's Cutting Edge 79

At age 14, his family moved to Utah, where he eventually
studied biology and art at Westminster College. He received
a bachelor of arts in bioclogy in 1955.

Joining the U.S. Army, Swann served in Korea and Japan
as a secretary and an aide on the staff of the Commander
of Pacific Forces.

In 1958, Swann left the military and joined the international
civil service, working for the United Nations in New York. “The
UN was a wonderfully broadening experience,” he recalled.
During the 11 years he worked at the UN, Swann rubbed elbows
with world leaders such as Golda Meir and Indira Gandhi.

But Swann said he eventually became disillusioned with
the politics and machinations within the UN and resigned in
1969. He added an extra “n” to his surname and pursued a
career in painting. "I immediately began starving to death,”
he recalled with a laugh. “No one wanted my paintings and I
refused to paint what everyone wanted.”

Then one cold afternoon in the spring of 1970, Swann
walked past a pet store on Greenwich Avenue and noticed
“something I had never seen before” He discovered that the
object of his interest was a chinchilla, and within two weeks,
he had purchased the pet and brought him home.

Mercenary, the name selected by Swann for his pet, was
given the run of Swann'’s apartment until he noticed that the
chinchilla’s appetite included “books, pencils, typewriter
ribbons, furniture, wood, and the telephone cord”

Thereafter, Swann began locking the nocturnal animal in
a cage each evening. Shortly, he noticed something that once
more brought him into the field of psychic phenomena.



Mercenary quickly began to equate bedtime with being
locked in his cage, and each night he would make himself as
scarce as possible. It became a nightly ritual: to spend at
least 30 minutes searching for and capturing Mercenary.
One night, though, an amazing incident occurred as Swann
sat watching television. Mercenary was perched on his knee
and Swann idly scratched his ears. Bored with the program,
Swann thought to himself that it was time to lock Mercenary
in his cage and go to bed. Mercenary immediately bolted
from the room. “I had not moved at all when the thought of put-
ting him in his cage occurred,’ said Swann. “It came as a stun-
ning recognition, therefore, when...I realized that he had
obviously picked up my thought.’?

Swann spent the next several days testing this phenom-
enon. He would place Mercenary in his cage at unlikely
times. "The effect was superb,” stated Swann. "‘After what ap-
pears to have been a brief learning period, he refused to re-
act but would sit back on his hind legs, his eyes blazing, his
tail switching back and forth, while he mentally probed my
mind to find out if I meant it or if this was just another testing
sequence.’!* Mercenary soon escaped Swann's apartment
and disappeared into the greater world of New York City.

But for Swann, even while mourning the loss of his pet,
there was but one overriding consideration: “Mercenary
could perceive and apprehend my thoughts,” Swann con-
cluded. “[H]is perception of my thoughts could not exist un-
less a similar potential existed within me, since this obviously
was an interaction, a meeting [emphasis in original] of mind,
and not a cause-effect situation.”!*
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His interest and scientific curiosity aroused, Swann began
to move Into the circles of those studying psychic phenomena.

First he made contact with Cleve Backster, a New York
polygraph (lie detector) operator who, in 1966, had made the
amazing discovery that plants hooked up to the polygraph
machine registered responses to outside stimuli just as hu-
mans did.

His find, now termed the “Backster Effect,” was the object
of an immensely popular 1973 book entitled The Secret Life
of Plants, which sold more than 100,000 hardcover copies.

After finding that any living tissue, including even the ba-
cilli of yogurt, exhibited reactions on his graphs, Backster
concluded, “Sentience does not seem to stop at the cellu-
lar level. It may go down to the molecular, the atomic, and
even the subatomic. All sorts of things which have been
conventionally considered to be inanimate may have to be
reevaluated.’!®

Swann worked in Backster’s lab for about a year.
Backster’s work, verified and augmented by other scientists
around the world, convinced Swann that his experience with
Mercenary had not been a fluke. Something very real was
transpiring on the psychic level.

By the end of 1971, Swann was engaged in psychic ex-
perimentation with Dr. Karlis Osis and his assistant, Janet
Mitchell, at the American Society for Psychical Research
(ASPR) in New York. This work was done under the auspices
of Dr. Gertrude Schmeidler of the Department of Psychology
at the City College of the City University of New York, and a
board member of ASPR.



Time-Life Books described the experiments:

In the Osis experiments, Swann would sit in an
easy chair in a room illuminated by a soft overhead
light, virtually immobilized by wires that hooked him
up to a polygraph machine, which monitored his brain
waves, respiration and blood pressure. Puffing away on
his cigar, he would, as he put it, “liberate his mind”;
then he would be asked to describe or draw his
impression of objects that were set out of sight in a box
on a platform suspended from the ceiling.!?

The results of this experimentation were generally good,
with more "hits” than "misses.” On at least two occasions,
though, the tests resulted in something quite extraordinary.

On March 3, 1972, the target box had been lined with
white paper, and Swann reported that there was printing on
a portion of the paper. The tester commented that this test
was a "‘miss” because there was not printing on the paper.

“To everyone’s chagrin, when the box was taken down
and inspected, there was the printing just as I felt I had seen,”
remarked Swann.'® The person lining the box had simply not
noticed the printing.

In another instance, Swann was valiantly trying to view the
inside of a lighted box, but all he perceived was darkness.

“The goddamned light is out over the target,” he shouted
to the testers, who replied, “Impossible!” However, when one
of the monitors climbed a tall ladder to reach the target box,
it was discovered that the light had indeed gone out, just as
Swann had perceived.'?
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With results such as this, Swann's psychic ability began to
flower and the concept of remote viewing drew that much nearer.

“I went to the ASPR two or three days a week for many
months and tried to identify an endless series of targets—
while strapped into a chair with my brain waves being moni-
tored on an EEG machine by Janet Mitchell. At first [ was not
very good at this kind of ‘perceiving, but as the months wore
on, [ got better at it,” Swann later explained.?°

It was during this work for Dr. Schmeidler and Dr. Osis that
the term remote viewing was first used by Swann and Mitchell.
“It was coined to identify a particular kind of experiment—not
a particular kind of psi ability,” Swann later wrote.?!

The experiments revolved around out-of-body experi-
ences that, in earlier times, had been called clairvoyance,
ecsomatic experiences, bi-location, or astral projection.

Swann recalled:

Janet Mitchell and I devised a playing-around ex-
periment in which I would try to “see” the weather
conditions in distant cities. Since some kind of feed-
back was absolutely necessary to determine what
was “seen,” after my distant weather impressions
had been given and recorded, Janet, or someone else,
could immediately telephone the weather information
number in the distant city and find out what the
weather was doing. The cities we were to play around
with “seeing” were selected by third parties. So unless
I had somehow memorized all of the weather condi-
tions in a large number of cities, it is reasonable to
conclude that a “distant seeing” had taken place if the
response was fed back as correct.?



Swann told of the occaslon when he sensed heavy rain in
a particular city. "“Impossible,’ retorted the testers. “The city
in question 1s Phoenix, where it's hot and dry” However, a
quick check with the Phoenix weather bureau confirmed
heavy thunderstorms in the city that day.2®

“I suggested that we call [these experiments] ‘remote-
sensing, " said Swann. “Shortly, though, it became clear that
[ didn't just sense the sites, but experienced mental-image
pictures of them in a visualizing kind of way.

“Without at all thinking much about it, and before the end
of 1971, we began referring to the long-distance experi-
ments as remote-viewing ones, since this term seemed the
most suitable.’#

It was also during this time that Swann happened to be in
Cleve Backster’s lab and learned of a proposal by physicist
Dr. Harold E. Puthoff.

“At that time, [ had submitted a proposal to Research
Corporation, which was handling a laser patent for me, to ob-
tain funds for some basic research into quantum biology,’
Puthoff recalled. "“This proposal was widely circulated and a
copy was sent to Cleve Backster in New York.25

Swann said Backster encouraged him to write to Puthoff.
He did on March 30, 1972, and a series of letters and phone
calls back and forth ensued.

Puthoff, a pleasant and studious man with a soft, controlled
voice, said that early on he was never particularly interested
in ESP or other psychic phenomena at all.

As a young man, Puthoff had served as a Navy officer for
three years after obtaining a master’s degree. He recalled:
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I was one of the lucky people. I had been in the re-
serves and went to Officers Candidate School while I
was still in college. I was slated to get my commission
in 1958. But in the summer of 1957, Sputnik went up
and Congress passed a law that anyone in a technical
field who was slated to go on active duty could remain
in graduate school. So I went to a year and a half of
graduate school and got my Lieutenant Junior Grade
by the time [ went on active duty. In three years, I went
to Lieutenant.

Puthoff said he spent his military service working in a re-
search laboratory for the National Security Agency (NSA), a
government agency he had never heard of before going to
active duty. It may have been here that Puthoff made the mili-
tary contacts he was to successfully utilize in later years dur-
Ing his psychic research.

After leaving the military, Puthoff earned his Ph.D. degree
In electrical engineering and physics from Stanford University.
“I worked on lasers and quantum electronics and other
things,” he said, “a very standard sort of engineering and
physics background.”

Then one day, Puthoff was reading the popular book Psychic
Discoveries Behind the Iron Curtain, when he read about the
“Backster Effect,” the ability of plants to communicate and
make a polygraph machine register their galvanic changes.
He said:

It occurred to me that an interesting experiment to
do would be to take some algae cultures, separate
them by several miles, and then send out a laser signal
to one culture to see if the sister culture responded before



the laser signal got there. If the laser signal felt loss of
life, and since tachyons [particles that theoretically
travel faster than the speed of light] would travel faster
than the laser, then that would determine if there
[werel|tachyonic connections. So it was purely a phys-
ics experiment. I sent it around to various people and
they came back and said, “This sounds like you're talk-
ing about psychic effects.” They suggested that that I
should just study psychics directly.

In communications between the two, Swann hesitated to
participate until Puthoff had assured him that the strictest sci-
entific protocols would be enforced during the experimenta-
tion. “So, on a lark more than anything else, I invited him to
come out and do some experiments,”’ said Puthoff, who by
this time was working for the prestigious “think tank” Stanford
Research Institute (SRI) in Menlo Park, California. His pro-
posal had been funded in April 1972, by Science Unlimited
Research Foundation of San Antonio, Texas, though not spe-
cifically for parapsychological research.

As for Swann, his decision to work with SRI turned his life
onto a new track. “I had no idea that this would result in a
19-year career,’ he said years later.

Puthoff recalled that, once his SRI associates learned of
Swann'’s impending visit, they warned him that “all those
people are frauds and charlatans.” They told Puthoff, “You'd
better have some experiment that you know they can't fake”

Taking his suspicious colleagues at their word, Puthoff
looked around and located a superconducting magnetometer,
sort of a supersensitive magnetic compass needle that can
register magnetic fields down to one millionth of the Earth’s
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field. This particular magnetometer had been devised along
with other multi-million-dollar equipment to detect quarks,
the theoretical building blocks of matter. Stability and de-
pendability were absolute necessities in this work.

Puthoff found Swann to be a thoughtful and knowledgeable
man—and one who wanted to be an integral part of any experi-
ment. "I was to find out what has now been reported to me from
other labs, that Ingo would often be the first to discount an ap-
parent success, pointing out some potential loophole in a pro-
tocol or possible misinterpretation of the data,’ recalled Puthoff 26

On June 6, 1972, Swann was taken to the basement of
Stanford University's Varian Physics Building, where the
magnetometer was housed. There, as somewhat amused
observers, were Dr. Arthur Hebard, who had agreed to
Puthoff’s use of the magnetometer, Dr. Martin Lee, a physicist
at the Stanford Linear Accelerator Center, and an assortment
of physics students.

Swann was Initially taken aback. He had expected the
usual array of electrodes, boxes with targets inside, and so on.
Here he found, to his dismay, that he was to try to affect a small
needle on a magnetic probe located in a vault beneath the
basement floor that was shielded by a magnetic shield, an
aluminum container, copper shielding, and a superconduct-
ing shield—one of the best shielding known to man.

As Puthoff explained, a decaying magnetic field had been
set up inside the magnetometer, which provided a steady
background calibration signal expressed as oscillating lines
on a chart recorder. Swann was asked to mentally affect the
magnetic field, which should then be expressed by a
change on the lines of the chart recorder.



“This made me mad,” recalled Swann. “How was [ ex-
pected to produce results if [ did not know what the experi-
ment entailed?”

Swann said that, after the initial shock wore off, he began
mentally probing the inside of the magnetometer, even to the
extent of “seeing” how the mechanism looked.

“I sketched it out and asked, ‘Is this it?’" he said.

“Yes, that's it,” he was told. “So now that we had gotten the
experiment straightened out,” Swann said, “Itook a look at this
thing.”

Within seconds, the oscillation of the recorder doubled
for about 30 seconds.

“Everyone stopped breathing,”’ recalled Swann.

According to Puthoff, Dr. Hebard, the physicist in charge
of the magnetometer, “looked startled,” as his own work was
greatly dependent on the undisturbed operation of this
equipment.

Despite the fact that the magnetometer had been work-
ing smoothly prior to Swann's attempt at mental manipula-
tion, Hebard immediately suspected that something must
have gone wrong with the machine. He suggested he would
be more impressed if Swann could stop the magnetometer’s
field output altogether. Swann agreed to try.

Puthoff described the results: ““[[Jn about five seconds [Swann]
apparently proceeded to do just that...for a period of roughly
45 seconds. At the end of the period, he said that he couldn't
“hold it any longer” and immediately “let go’ at which time the
output returned to normal. ... I was absolutely amazed.'??
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His amazement was heightened when, in discussions af-
ter the test, Swann explained that he had experienced direct
vision of the insides of the magnetometer. Apparently the
mere act of internal observation had resulted in affecting the
machine as reflected in the recorder graph.

“On the way out, I asked Dr. Hebard to con